IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-154

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO. 97-CF-1547

JOHN CALVIN TAYLOR, II,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

FRANK J. TASSONE

Fla. Bar No. 165611 TASSONE & DREICER, LLC. 1833 Atlantic Blvd. Jacksonville, FL 32207 (904) 396-3344 Fax (904) 396-3349

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Taylor's initial and second amended motion for post-conviction relief. The motions were brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.851.

John Calvin Taylor, II will be referred to as "Mr. Taylor" "Taylor" or "Appellant." Frank J. Tassone will be referred to as "undersigned counsel."

Citations to the record on appeal from the direct appeal will be designated with the Volume number, "R" and the appropriate page number, e.g. (1 R 1.) Citations to the record on appeal from the initial 3.851 will be designated with the Volume number "PCR" and the appropriate page number, e.g. (1 PCR 1.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

ARGUMENTS I – III. Appellate courts review a circuit court's resolution of ineffective assistance of counsel claims under <u>Strickland</u> with a mixed standard of review because both the performance and the prejudice of the <u>Strickland</u> test present mixed questions of law and fact. <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 883 So.2d 766 (Fla. 2004).

Although appellate courts are to give the trial court's factual findings deference, the trial court decisions must be supported by competent, substantial evidence in order for an appellate court to give same. <u>Id.; see also Oceanic International Corp v. Lantana Boatyard</u>, 402 So.2d 507 (Fla. 4th DCA

1981)(Holding that, "when an appellate court is convinced that an express or inferential finding of the trial court is without support of any substantial evidence, is clearly against the weight of the evidence, or that the trial court has misapplied the law to the established facts, then the decision is clearly erroneous and the appellate court will reverse because the trial court has failed to give legal effect to the evidence in its entirety.")

ARGUMENT II—Where a claim was denied as insufficiently pleaded, this case must be remanded to the trial court to allow Taylor reasonable time to bring his claim to facial sufficiency. <u>Spera v. State</u>, 971 So.2d 754, 761 (Fla. 2007). According to this Court in capital postconviction review of <u>Davis v. State</u>, 26 So. 3d 519, 527 (Fla. 2009):

When a postconviction motion fails to comply with the pleading requirements of the rule and the court intends to deny the motion based on these easily curable technical omissions, the proper procedure is for the court to strike the motion with leave to amend within a reasonable period if the technically defective pleadings can be completed and amended in good faith.

Id. citing Spera, 971 So.2d at 761.

ARGUMENT IV-- Lower Court rulings on the constitutionality of a statute receive the *de novo* standard of review. <u>Bush v. Schiavo</u>, 885 So.2d 321 (Fla. 2004).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

John Calvin Taylor was indicted on February 26, 1998 for first-degree murder and robbery with a deadly weapon of Shannon Holzer. (1 R 23-24.) Taylor was tried before a jury on July 19 - 23, 1999 and found guilty of both counts. (4 R 659-660)(17 R 2064.)

The defense presented 22 penalty phase witnesses in the August 13, 1999 penalty phase. Collectively, the witnesses, mostly family members and friends, testified that Taylor had a very dysfunctional family. (See e.g. 18 R 2217-41); that Taylor grew up in an impoverished environment, was abused, neglected, and discouraged from attending school. (See 18 R 2260.) Witnesses testified that although Taylor was a liar and thief he was a nice guy. (See 19 R 2406, 2429.) According to the evidence presented on Taylor's behalf, Taylor ultimately overcame hardship, became a talented carpenter, electrician, mechanic, and plumber, and enjoyed life as a family man. (See 18 R 2286.) At the conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury recommended a death sentence for Mr. Taylor. (5 R 847.) The court permitted the state and defense to present additional evidence and argument at a September 9, 1999 Spencer hearing. (5 R 965-978.)

On October 7, 1999 the trial court sentenced Mr. Taylor to death for his first-degree murder conviction and life in prison for the robbery charge. (5 R 847) (20 R 2642.) In reaching this sentence, the court found the following four

aggravating factors: (1) The defendant was previously convicted of another capital offense of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person; (2) The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of the crime of robbery or kidnapping; (3) The capital felony was for pecuniary gain; (4) The crime for which defendant was convicted was committed after he had previously been convicted of a felony or was under sentence of imprisonment, community control, or felony probation. (5 R 980-84.) The court merged the second and third aggravators and weighed three aggravating factors in considering the appropriate sentence for Taylor. (5 R 973-996)(20 R 2702.)

The defense did not present, nor did the trial court consider, any statutory mitigating factors. The trial court considered the following non-statutory mitigation: (1) Taylor was raised in a dysfunctional family and suffered neglect and abuse during his first eleven years; (2) By the time anyone encouraged John Taylor to be interested in school, it was too late, and he dropped out in junior high; (3) While Taylor was known as a thief throughout his life, he was never known to be violent; (4) Taylor makes friends easily, he enjoys people who also enjoy him – he has done good deeds to friends and strangers (not proven); (5) Taylor enjoys family relationships and activities (not proven); (6) Taylor is a skilled, reliable worker inside and outside of prison; (7) Taylor performs well when he has

structure in his life (not proven); Taylor has been and ay continue to be a positive

influence in the lives of family members (not proven). (5 R 979-95.)

Mr. Taylor filed a direct appeal of his judgment and sentence with this Court.¹

This Court denied relief in Taylor v. State, 855 So.2d 1, 9-13 (Fla. 2003).

¹(1) The trial court erred in denying Taylor's motion to suppress physical evidence seized from his house and vehicle, his statements made while detained in the back of the patrol car and at the police station, and the clothing seized after he was arrested, where the evidence and the statements were the poisoned fruit of illegal police action; (2) The trial court erred in permitting Joe Dunn, Arthur Mishoe, Alex Metcalf, and Cynthia Schermund to testify to hearsay statements made by the victim about giving Taylor a ride to Green Cove Springs; (3) The Trial court erred in admitting into evidence Taylor's credit application which included statements by Taylor that were lies; (4) The trial court erred in allowing the prosecutor to rehabilitate deputy Noble by admitting a prior consistent statement where the prior statement was made one year after any motive to fabricate arose; (5) The Trial court erred in admitting into evidence a pair of underwear found in the bag containing the clothing taken from Taylor when he was arrested, where the state presented no evidence Taylor was wearing underwear or that underwear was placed in the bag, where the bag was left unattended in a cabinet for two weeks, it was in when originally placed in the cabinet; (6) The husband/wife privilege was violated when the trial court required Taylor's wife to testify that Taylor told her Michael McJunkin needed money for a bus ticket to Arkansas; (7) The trial court erred in instructing the jury on and in finding the "under sentence of imprisonment" aggravating circumstance based upon a 1991 Arkansas prison sentence for which Taylor was never incarcerated due to an administrative error; (8) The trial court erred in finding the evidence failed to prove the mitigating factors that (i) As a child and an adult, Taylor has been known to be a thief but has not been known as a violent person, and an act of violence is out of character for him; (ii) Taylor makes friends easily, enjoys people who enjoy him ,and has done good deeds for friends and even perfect strangers; (iii) Taylor enjoys family relationships and activities; (iv) Taylor appears to perform well when he has structure in his life; (v) Taylor has been and can continue to be a positive influence in the lives of family members; (9) The death sentence is disproportionate where there were only two relatively week aggravating circumstances and copious mitigating circumstances, including a severely dysfunctional upbringing marked by daily abuse and complete lack of parental care or supervision.

Mr. Taylor filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the United States Supreme Court; the Court denied the petition on March 8, 2004. <u>Taylor v. Florida</u>, 541 U.S. 905 (2004).

Taylor filed his initial motion to vacate judgments of conviction and sentence under the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850/3.851 on October 27, 2004, including two claims. (1 PCR 4-13.) Taylor filed an amended 3.850/3.851 on April 26, 2007.²

 $^{^{2}}$ (1) Access to files and records pertaining to Mr. Taylor's case in the possession of various state agencies have been withheld in violation of 119.01, Fla. Stat., the Due Process Clause and Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, the Eighth Amendment, and the Corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution. Mr. Taylor cannot prepare an adequate Rule 3.850 Motion until he has received public records materials and has been afforded due time to review and amend; (2) A jury must find all aggravating circumstances (other than the prior violent felony convictions) beyond a reasonable doubt; (3) Taylor's counsel was ineffective in the pretrial, guilt, and penalty phases of trial. Defendant was denied the right to a fair trial in violation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments - PRETRIAL (a) Defense counsel was deficient in his representation of defendant due to his failure to efficiently partake in the discovery and investigation process. These actions resulted in defendant's trial counsel having insufficient knowledge of the facts surrounding defendant's case, insufficient knowledge as to the substance of the witnesses' testimony, and insufficient knowledge as to available defenses of the defendant; GUILT PHASE (a) Defense counsel was ineffective and deficient in his representation of defendant because he failed to impeach state witnesses when relevant impeachment evidence was available; (b) Defendant's counsel was deficient in his representation of defendant because he failed to file a motion for change of venue, as the defendant's case was widely publicized; (c) Defense counsel was ineffective and deficient in his representation of defendant because he failed to object to the prosecution's misconduct, including the prosecution's statements toward inflaming the passions and minds of the jury; (d) Defense counsel was deficient in his representation of defendant by failing to fully explore and present witnesses and evidence in support

The state filed a response to the amended 3.850/3.851 on June 25, 2007. (3

of defendant's motion to suppress evidence; PENALTY PHASE (a) Defense counsel was ineffective in failing to utilize a mental health expert to effectively establish mitigating circumstances; (b) Defense counsel was ineffective and deficient in his representation of defendant by failing to object to jury instruction regarding improper aggravators and burden shifting to defendant to prove death not appropriate; (c) Defense counsel was ineffective and deficient in his representation of defendant by failing to request a curative instruction to the jury on nonaggravating circumstances; (d) Defense counsel was ineffective by failing to rebut the weight of the state's presented aggravators; (4) The State knowingly [presented] false material information which prejudiced the defendant and thereby was a violation of Giglio v. United States; (5) Defendant has newly discovered evidence of such nature to produce an acquittal or retrial. Therefore, defendant's convictions are in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments; (6) The defendant's trial was fraught with procedural and substantive errors, which cannot be viewed as harmless when viewed as a whole. The combination of errors deprived defendant of a fair trial guaranteed by the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments; (7) Defendant is innocent of firstdegree murder. There is insufficient evidence to support his conviction and sentence; (8) Defendant was denied a proper direct appeal from his judgments of conviction and sentences of death in violation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, Art. 5 § 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution and § 921.141(4) of the Florida Statutes, due to omissions in the record. Defendant is being denied effective assistance of post-conviction counsel because the record is incomplete; (9) Defendant's sentence is unconstitutional under Ring v. Arizona; (10) Florida's capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied for failing to prevent the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty and for violating the guarantee against cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. To the extent this issues was not properly litigated at trial or on appeal, defendant received prejudicially ineffective assistance of counsel; (11) Defendant may not be executed by lethal injection without violating the constitutions of the United States and Florida. The law enacting lethal injection is unconstitutional. The waiver provision is unconstitutional. It is an unconstitutional special criminal law. It violates the prohibition against ex post facto laws. (2 PCR 49-202.)

PCR 229-303.) Following the October 31, 2007 <u>Huff³</u> hearing, the court granted an evidentiary hearing on certain subclaims of Claim Three (ineffectiveness of trial counsel at guilt and penalty phases), Claim Four (<u>Giglio</u> violations); and Claim Five (newly discovered evidence of a different perpetrator). (6 PCR 972-73.)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the trial court erred in finding that trial counsel was not deficient in failing to properly utilize a mental health expert in Taylor's penalty phase proceedings to correlate the presented mitigation to the facts and circumstances of the crime and establish statutory and non-statutory mitigation resulting in prejudice to Taylor?
- **II.** Whether the trial court erred in summarily denying Taylor's claim that trial counsel was deficient in failing to move for a change of venue and that this failure resulted in a due process violation where Taylor did not have an impartial jury?
- **III.** Whether the trial court erred in its determination that counsel was not ineffective in failing to object to prosecutorial misconduct which inflamed the passions and minds of the jury?
- IV. Whether Florida's capital sentencing scheme is unconstitutional under <u>Ring</u> v. Arizona because it does not require the jury to make the findings of fact

³ <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

necessary to impose a death sentence?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT DEFICIENT IN FAILING TO PROPERLY UTILIZE A MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT IN THE PENALTY PHASE TO ESTABLISH MENTAL MITIGATION (INCLUDING STATUTORY MITIGATION) AND CORRELATE THE REQUESTED NON-STATUTORY MITIGATORS TO THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CRIME

Taylor's trial attorney and the prosecutor both described Taylor's childhood as the worst they had ever heard. Despite the horrific nature of Taylor's childhood and the abundance of evidence presented at penalty phase demonstrating Taylor's dysfunctional upbringing, the jury, voiced a resounding "so what?" and sentenced Taylor to death with a 10 to 2 vote.

Counsel was deficient in failing to present the testimony of a mental health expert to correlate Taylor's tragic upbringing to the facts and circumstances of the crime. Furthermore, counsel should have requested that its mental health expert determine whether Taylor qualified for the statutory mitigators of extreme emotional disturbance and ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law and presented evidence in support of these statutory mitigators at trial.

This failure of counsel to present expert testimony on Taylor's behalf in penalty phase cannot be considered strategic because counsel was worried about anti-social personality disorder. This is especially true in the instant case where the mental health expert who evaluated Taylor specifically found that Taylor was not anti-social.

Taylor was prejudiced by his counsel's failure to present statutory and nonstatutory mental mitigation through the testimony of a mental health expert in penalty phase. Had counsel presented a mental health expert to correlate the migitation that was presented at penalty phase to the facts of circumstances of the crime; discuss new non-statutory mental mitigation; and establish two statutory mental mitigators of extreme emotional disturbance and inability to conform conduct to the requirements of the law, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the penalty phase would have been different.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING TAYLOR'S CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS DEFICIENT IN FAILING TO MOVE FOR A CHANGE OF VENUE, THEREBY PREJUDICING TAYLOR BY PROHIBITING TAYLOR FROM SELECTING AN IMPARTIAL JURY

Shannon Holzer's murder was the talk of the small community where she and her extended family lived and worked. Ms. Holzer worked at her family's business, Buddy Boy's Kountry Store outside of St. Augustine Florida, which was a local gathering place on the Clay County/St. Johns' County border. Ms. Holzer and her parents were close friends of the deputy who investigated the case upon Holzer's disappearance. (7 R 137)(3 R 425-26.) There was heavy media coverage of the Holzer murder in the media in St. Johns County where Holzer lived and worked, and Clay County where her body was discovered, where the trial took place, and where the jury pool originated.

Taylor was prejudiced by the deficiency of his counsel in failing to move for a change of venue. Had counsel requested a change of venue in pre-trial proceedings it is likely the motion would have been granted and the juror who admitted to believing that Taylor was guilty before the trial even began would not have been responsible for determining Taylor's guilt and appropriate punishment.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO OBJECT TO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT WHICH INFLAMED THE PASSIONS AND MINDS OF THE JURY

Taylor's trial counsel failed to object where the state's misconduct in the guilt stage of Taylor's trial made the proceedings presumptively unreliable and unfair. Therefore, a new trial should be granted because the prosecutorial misconduct might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict that it would have otherwise

IV. FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING SCHEME IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER <u>RING V. ARIZONA</u> BECAUSE IT DOES NOT REQUIRE THE JURY TO MAKE THE FINDINGS OF FACT NECESSARY TO IMPOSE A DEATH SENTENCE

The jury's 10-2 death recommendation in Mr. Taylor's case was not specific in that it does not tell us how many, if any, of the aggravators were found beyond a reasonable doubt by a majority of the jurors. The ten jurors who recommended death could have split on which aggravators they believed had been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. They could have been so split over the three factors that none of the factors were found proved by a majority. <u>Ring</u> has been violated, Florida's sentencing scheme for death penalty cases is unconstitutional, and Mr. Taylor is entitled to be resentenced to life.

<u>ARGUMENT I</u>

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT DEFICIENT IN FAILING TO PROPERLY UTILIZE A MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT IN THE PENALTY PHASE TO ESTABLISH MENTAL MITIGATION (INCLUDING STATUTORY MITIGATION) AND CORRELATE THE REQUESTED NON-STATUTORY MITIGATORS TO THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CRIME

The relative effectiveness or deficiency of capital defense counsel cannot be measured by the volume of penalty phase witnesses alone, but by the quality of information presented and its usefulness and relevance to the jury's decision. Counsel presented a variety of witnesses from Taylor's childhood who, despite the brutal murder that Taylor had been convicted of, said that Taylor was kind, nice to people, had a bad childhood but overcame the challenging obstacles.

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