# In the Supreme Court of Florida

JOHN	CATATIN	TAYLOR
DOM		TATION

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC11-154

STATE OF FLORIDA,

 ${\it Appellee.}$ 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL, PL-01 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

#

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

# The trial court's ruling

Taylor raised two *Ring* claims in his postconviction motion - claim II and Claim IX. As to claim II, the trial court denied the *Ring* claim finding the claim to be procedurally barred by the law of the case doctrine because a Sixth Amendment claim was raised in the direct appeal. The trial court, following this Court's precedent of *Kormondy v. State*, 845 So.2d 41, 54 (Fla. 2003) and *State v. Steele*, 921 So.2d 538 (Fla. 2005) concluded that "written jury findings of aggravators are not required." As to claim IX, the trial court noted that the same claim, that *Ring* required all aggravators be found by written special verdicts, was raised as claim II and then found the claim procedurally barred by the law of the case doctrine.

### Standard of review

The standard of review is de novo. Constitutional challenges to statutes are reviewed de novo. Miller v. State, 42 So. 3d 204, 215 (Fla. 2010)(stating "[w]e review a trial court's ruling on the constitutionality of a Florida statute de novo" regarding a Sixth Amendment challenge to Florida's death penalty scheme pursuant to Apprendi and Ring).

### Procedural bar

This claim is barred by the law of the case doctrine. Taylor raised this Sixth Amendment claim on direct appeal. The Florida Supreme Court ruled:

Subsequent to the filing of briefs in this case, we allowed the parties to file supplemental briefing on whether Florida's death penalty sentencing scheme is unconstitutional in light of the United States Supreme Court's holding in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). This Court addressed similar contentions in Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla.2002), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1070, 123 S.Ct. 662, 154 L.Ed.2d 564 (2002), and King v. Moore, 831 So.2d 143 (Fla.2002), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1067, 123 S.Ct. 657, 154 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002), and denied relief. We find that Taylor is likewise not entitled to relief on this supplemental claim.

Taylor, 855 So.2d at 13, n.11. Taylor's claim is procedurally barred because it was raised and rejected on direct appeal.

While the Florida Supreme Court relied upon and cited only Apprendi, not Ring, the claim is fundamentally a Sixth Amendment Furthermore, this Court took the claim to be a Ring claim because this Court cited Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1070, 123 S.Ct. 662, 154 L.Ed.2d 564 (2002), and King v. Moore, 831 So.2d 143 (Fla.2002), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1067, 123 S.Ct. 657, 154 L.Ed. 2d 556 (2002), in support of its decision to reject the claim. Bottoson and King, of course, are Ring cases. Furthermore, Ring was decided prior to issuing of the opinion in the direct appeal. The United States Supreme Court issued Ring on June 24, 2002 and the direct appeal opinion was issued by the Florida Supreme Court on September 8, 2003. Thus, Ring was decided over a year prior to the decision in this case. Moreover, the United States Supreme Court had granted certiorari in Ring by the time of supplemental briefing. Both Taylor's supplemental initial brief and the State's supplemental answer brief noted that the United States Supreme Court had granted certiorari review in Ring. Thus, even the

specific *Ring* based claim was raised and rejected on direct appeal. This claim is procedurally barred.

## Merits

The Sixth Amendment states:

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence.

The United States Supreme Court in Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002) held that the Sixth Amendment requires that aggravating factors, necessary under Arizona law for imposition of the death penalty, be found by a jury.

Ring was the application of Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), to capital cases. Arizona's death penalty statute, which was at issue in Ring, was judge-only capital sentencing. Florida's death penalty statute, in contrast, as the Ring Court itself noted, is a hybrid system involving both a judge and a jury. Ring, 536 U.S. at 608, n.6, 122 S.Ct. at 2442, n.6 (noting that Arizona, like Colorado, Idaho, Montana and Nebraska, "commit both capital sentencing factfinding and the ultimate sentencing decision entirely to judges" and noting that four States, Alabama, Delaware, Florida and Indiana, "have hybrid systems, in which the jury renders an advisory verdict but the judge makes the

ultimate sentencing determinations."). Florida's scheme is jury plus judge sentencing, not judge only sentencing.

This Court has repeatedly, over the years, rejected *Ring* challenges to Florida's death penalty scheme. As this Court has recently noted: "we have repeatedly rejected constitutional challenges to Florida's death penalty under *Ring." Ault v. State*, 53 So.3d 175, 205-206 (Fla. 2010)(rejecting a *Ring* challenge to Florida's death penalty scheme citing *Bottoson v. Moore*, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla. 2002), and *King v. Moore*, 831 So.2d 143 (Fla. 2002)).

Ring does not apply to this particular case because both the prior violent felony aggravator and the under sentence of imprisonment aggravator are present. Taylor had previously been convicted of armed robbery and was mistakenly released from prison in Arkansas. Recidivist aggravators are exempt from the holding in Ring. The United States Supreme Court exempted prior convictions from the holding of Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), explaining that "[o]ther than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." The exception announced in Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224, 118 S.Ct. 1219, 140 L.Ed.2d 350 (1998), for prior convictions, survived Apprendi and Ring. Tai A. Pham v. State, 70 So.3d 485, 495-496 (Fla.

unaltered by Ring). This Court has repeatedly rejected Ring claims where the prior violent felony aggravator is present. Evans v. State, 975 So. 2d 1035, 1052-1053 (Fla. 2007) (rejecting a Ring claim where the prior violent felony aggravator was present citing Duest v. State, 855 So. 2d 33, 49 (Fla. 2003)). And this Court has rejected Ring

Furthermore, Almendarez-Torres was correctly decided. Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial is just that - a right to a jury - that is one jury. A defendant is entitled to one jury trial, not two. Frank R. Herrmann, 30=20: "Understanding" Maximum Sentence Enhancements, 46 Buff. L. Rev. 175 (1998)(explaining that recidivism should be exempt from the elements rule because the defendant has already received a full trial and due process for the prior conviction and observing that the prior conviction received "the totality of constitutional protections" which distinguishes the use of prior convictions from other sentence enhancers and concluding that requiring full trial rights for the prior conviction would be "redundant".) Any defendant, who is a recidivist, has already had a jury find the underlying facts of the prior conviction at the highest standard of proof. The judge, in a recidivist situation, is merely taking judicial notice of a prior jury's verdict. With the prior violent felony aggravator which requires a conviction, a prior jury heard the evidence and found Taylor guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. This prior jury completely satisfies the Sixth Amendment. Taylor is not entitled to two jury trials on his prior convictions.

Furthermore, the vast majority of criminal defendants plead. This means these defendants waived the right to a jury trial. If Almendarez-Torres is overruled, a defendant will have resurrected his right to a jury trial that he waived when he pled by the act of committing a second offense. Overruling Almendarez-Torres would create the odd result of unwaiver by criminal conduct. Moreover, the prosecution often agrees to a plea to avoid the time and trouble of a trial. For the prosecution to have to prove a crime years after it was committed, with all the attendant problems of lost evidence, missing witnesses and foggy memories, because the defendant committed another crime, seems to be a breach of the original plea agreement. Almendarez-Torres' logic is sound.

The continued validity of Almendarez-Torres has been questioned by several of the Justices as well as several courts. The United States Supreme Court's decision in Oregon v. Ice, 555 U.S. 160, 129 S.Ct. 711, 172 L.Ed.2d 517 (2009), upholding a judge's power to impose consecutive sentences without special findings by the jury, however, shows that Almendarez-Torres is alive and well.

claims when the under sentence of imprisonment aggravator is present as well. Hodges v. State, 55 So.3d 515, 540 (Fla. 2010)(stating that: "[t]his Court has repeatedly held that Ring does not apply to cases where the prior violent felony, the prior capital felony, or the under-sentence-of-imprisonment aggravating factor is applicable); Smith v. State, 998 So.2d 516, 529 (Fla. 2008)(stating: "We also have held that the aggravator of murder committed while under sentence of imprisonment may be found by the judge alone."). Neither of these aggravators are required to be found by the jury under any view of Ring.

Moreover, if *Ring* applied and required that the jury find one aggravator, then *Ring* was satisfied in the guilt phase in this particular case. One of the aggravators found by the trial court was the "during the course of a felony" aggravator. The jury found Taylor guilty of robbery with a deadly weapon in the guilt phase. Basically, the jury unanimously found this aggravator in the guilty phase. *Ring* was satisfied before the penalty phase even began. As this Court recently reiterated in "*Ring* is not implicated when the trial court has found as an aggravating circumstance that the crime was committed in the course of a felony." *Baker v. State*, 71 So.3d 802, 824 (Fla. 2011)(citing *McGirth v. State*, 48 So.3d 777, 795 (Fla. 2010)(citing *Robinson v. State*, 865 So.2d 1259 (Fla. 2004)). Accordingly, *Ring* is not violated in a case where the jury unanimously finds an aggravator in the guilty phase by convicting a defendant of an separate, underlying felony.

Moreover, the jury recommended death thereby necessarily finding an aggravator. The United States Supreme Court, in Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227, 119 S.Ct. 1215, 143 L.Ed.2d 311 (1999), a case that was a precursor to Apprendi and Ring, explained that Florida's death penalty does not violate the Sixth Amendment. It was a footnote in Jones stating "under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the notice and jury trial guarantees of the Sixth Amendment, any fact (other than prior conviction) that increases the maximum penalty for a crime must be charged in an indictment, submitted to a jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt," that essentially become the holding in Apprendi. Jones, 526 U.S. at 243 n.6. The Jones Court explained that if there is a jury recommendation of death, the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial is not violated. The Jones Court explained that in Hildwin, a Florida case, a jury made a sentencing recommendation of death, thus "necessarily engaging in the factfinding required for imposition of a higher sentence, that is, the determination that at least one aggravating factor had been proved." Jones, 526 U.S. at 251, 119 S.Ct. at 1228. See also State v. Steele, 921 So. 2d 538, 546 (Fla. 2005) (explaining that a finding of an aggravator "is implicit in a jury's recommendation of a sentence of death" citing Jones). A jury in Florida is instructed that they may not recommend death unless they find an aggravator. So, a jury that recommends death has necessarily found at least one aggravator. According to both the United States Supreme Court in Jones and the Florida Supreme Court in Steele, a jury's recommendation of death means the jury found an aggravator which is all Ring requires.

Taylor's jury recommended death by a vote of ten to two. His jury necessarily found at least one aggravator in order to recommend death. There can be no violation of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial where the defendant had a jury and that jury necessarily found an aggravator.

Taylor's reliance on Evans v. Sec'y, Dep't of Corr.,

2:08-cv-14402-JEM (S.D. Fla. June 20, 2011), is misplaced. First,
a federal district court is a trial court and like any other trial
court, its rulings are not binding precedent of any sort. As the United
States Supreme Court has explained, a "decision of a federal district
court judge is not binding precedent in either a different judicial
district, the same judicial district, or even upon the same judge in
a different case." Camreta v. Greene, - U.S. -, n.7, 131 S.Ct. 2020,
2033, n.7, 179 L.Ed.2d 1118 (2011). One federal district judge's
view certainly does not trump this Court's numerous and repeated
holdings, over the last decade, that Florida's death penalty statute
does not violate Ring.

Furthermore, Evans is distinguishable. As the district court in Evans itself noted, Evans did not involve the prior violent felony aggravator, the under sentence of imprisonment aggravator, or the during-the-course-of-a-felony aggravator, as this case does. Evans v. Sec'y, Dep't of Corr., 2:08-cv-14402-JEM at 80, n.25 citing Coday v. State, 946 So.2d 988, 1023 (Fla. 2006)(Pariente, J., dissenting on Ring). This case involves all three of these aggravators.

And most importantly, Evans is incorrectly decided and is due to be reversed by the Eleventh Circuit. 14 There is a special, highly deferential standard of review in federal habeas cases and the district court in Evans improperly refused to apply that standard. The Eleventh Circuit is highly likely to reverse on that basis alone. Hill v. Humphrey, 662 F.3d 1335  $(11^{th} Cir. 2011)$  (reversing a panel decision because the panel refused to apply the required AEDPA deference to the state court). Even under de novo review, Evans is incorrectly decided because the district court in Evans refused to follow controlling Supreme Court precedent of Schad v. Arizona, 501 U.S. 624, 111 S.Ct. 2491, 115 L.Ed.2d 555 (1991), which held that special verdicts are not required. The district court basically joined the dissent in Schad by requiring special verdicts regarding aggravators. District courts are not free to follow the dissent; rather, they must follow the majority opinion. The Eleventh Circuit will follow the majority in Schad. While the district court found the jury's recommendation to be meaningless, the United States Supreme Court thinks otherwise. In Jones, the United States Supreme Court found a jury recommendation of death to be quite meaningful. This Court should reject the reasoning of Evans and follow its long established precedent that Florida's death penalty statute does not violate Ring.

### Harmless error

Evans is pending on appeal in the Eleventh Circuit. Sec'y, Fla Dep't of Corr., v. Evans, 11-14498-P.

Furthermore, if even there had been a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, violations of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, including Ring claims, are subject to harmless error analysis. Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed. 2d 35 (1999) (finding that error in the judge determining the issue of materiality rather than properly submitting the materiality issue to the was harmless). A rational jury would have found an aggravator. Indeed, a rational jury would have found the exact same aggravators the judge did. A rational jury would have found the during-the-course-of-a-robbery aggravator if asked to complete a special verdict form given that they convicted Taylor of robbery in the guilt phase. A rational jury would have also found the under-sentence-of-imprisonment aggravator if asked to do so. A rational would have also found the pecuniary aggravator if asked to The State tied Taylor to this murder, in part, because of his having a roll of cash, totaling around \$1600, despite being unemployed. Any error was harmless.

The trial court properly denied the two *Ring* claims. Accordingly, the trial court's order denying the three claims of ineffectiveness following an evidentiary hearing and summarily denying the two *Ring* claims should be affirmed.

### CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the trial court denial of the 3.851 motion following an evidentiary hearing.